1996

Western Rock Products Corporation v. Tri-County Confinement Systems, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1996).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The determinative issue(s) in this case is whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment. Because Appellant believes that the trial court erred in several particulars, Appellant states the issues as follows:

1. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to whether the parties reached an agreement.
2. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to the alleged terms of the alleged agreement between the parties.
3. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to the purpose that funds were deposited in escrow.
4. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to the "Formalization Agreement" and the repudiation of the alleged agreement.

5. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to the "Confirmation Memo."

6. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to the escrow instructions.

7. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to whether the acts of the parties demonstrated the existence of an enforceable agreement between the parties.

8. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to the trial court's conclusion that the form and effect of the "Formalization Agreement" was not material to Appellee's claim.

9. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment with respect to whether there was actually a meeting of the minds or mutual assent of the parties.

10. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment when it determined that if there was an agreement entered into between the parties, such agreement was not repudiated by a separate agreement reached between the parties on the following day.

11. Whether the trial court erred in determining that there were no genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment when it concluded that there was no basis for

estopping Appellee from enforcing the “Conformation Memo” and that both parties should instead be estopped from denying the existence of the alleged agreement.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court is called upon in this appeal to review the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in a number of particulars. Summary judgment is appropriate only when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 56(c); *Ron Case Roofing & Asphalt Paving, Inc. v. Blomquist*, 773 P.2d 1382, 1385 (Utah 1989). This Court accords “no deference to the trial court’s conclusion that the facts are not in dispute nor the court’s legal conclusions based on those facts.” *Kitchen v. Cal. Gas Co., Inc.*, 821 P.2d 458, 460 (Utah App. 1991), *cert. denied*, 832 P.2d 476 (1992).¹ Additionally, this Court “review[s] all relevant facts, including all inferences arising from those facts, in a light most favorable to the losing party.” *Id.* This has been interpreted to mean that this Court must accept Appellant’s facts as set forth before the trial court and in sworn testimony and they determine whether the facts create genuine issues of material fact. *See, e.g., Beehive Brick Co. V. Robinson Brick Co.* 780 P.2d 827 (Utah App. 1989). Under applicable standards of review, this Court must resolve all doubts in favor of Appellant. *Draper Bank & Trust Co. v. Lawson*, 675 P.2d 1174 (Utah 1983). “If, after a review of the record, it appears that there is a

¹ Said another way, because this Court resolves only legal issues when reviewing a grant of summary judgment, it does not defer to the trial court’s ruling in any particular. *Ferree v. State*, 784 P.2d 149, 151 (Utah 1989).

material factual issue, [this Court is] compelled to reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment." *Amica Mut. Ins. Co. V. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950, 957 (Utah App. 1989). **"One sworn statement under oath [involving a material fact] is all that is necessary to create a factual issue, thereby precluding the entry of summary judgment."** *Id.* With respect to this Court's handling of its review of the facts in an appeal from a summary judgment motion, it is improper for the trial court or this Court on appeal to weigh the evidence or assess its credibility or make any determination about the opposing party's ultimate chance of prevailing in a trial on the merits. *Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Atkin, Wright & Miles*, 681 P.2d 1258, 1261 (Utah 1984); accord *Reeves v. Geigy Pharmaceutical, Inc.*, 764 P.2d 636, 639 (Utah App. 1988).²

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Appellant is unaware of any statutes that are determinative in this action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case involves a dispute between Appellant and Appellee as to whether they actually entered into an agreement and, if so, what the terms of the agreement actually are. Appellee

² In *White v. Deseelhorst*, 879 P.2d 1371 (Utah 1984), the Utah Supreme Court addressed this issue and cast some dispersions on whether the party opposing summary judgment and appealing the grant of summary judgment could actually prevail in a trial on the merits. The Court noted, however, that such consideration at the appellate level was not appropriate. The Court was obligated to resolve all doubts in that party's favor regardless of how the Court felt about that party's ability to ultimately succeed at trial.

maintains that the parties reached a binding agreement. Appellant, on the other hand, maintains that the parties did not reach an agreement, but instead only participated in preliminary discussions and negotiations. In short, that there was no meeting of the minds or mutual assent. Appellant further maintains that even if it can be argued that the parties reached an agreement, the parties have not agreed to numerous and material terms and conditions thereof. As a result, Appellant maintains that there were numerous genuine issues of material fact both with respect to whether the parties actually entered into an agreement and the terms and conditions of any alleged agreement.

Course of the Proceedings

Appellant was a general contractor on a large industrial project in Beaver County, Utah. Appellee was hired by a sub-contractor to perform certain tasks and supply certain material on the project. The sub-contractor failed to pay Appellee for its services on the project. Appellee threatened to file a mechanic's lien on the project. Appellant entered into discussions and negotiations with Appellee with the goal of avoiding the filing of a mechanic's lien. As part of the negotiations, Appellant escrowed a significant amount of money as a show of good faith and which Appellee could access if efforts failed to force the sub-contractor to pay the money owing to Appellee.

Appellee apparently believed that it had entered into an agreement with Appellant. When Appellee deemed that Appellant had not performed under the alleged agreement, Appellee filed

a Complaint for Breach of Contract against Appellee. Shortly thereafter, Appellee filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of whether a legally enforceable agreement existed between the parties. Appellant both answered the Complaint and opposed the Motion for Summary Judgment. Judge J. Philip Eves in the Fifth District in and for Beaver County granted Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment and held that an enforceable agreement did exist between the parties.

Disposition of the Trial Court

Judge J. Philip Eves in the Fifth District in and for Beaver County granted Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment and held that an enforceable agreement did exist between the parties. Because it is a summary judgment action, inherent in the trial court's ruling is the conclusion that there were no genuine issues of material fact with respect to whether the parties actually entered into an alleged agreement or with respect to the terms of the alleged agreement itself. As shown below, there were numerous genuine issues of material fact and the trial court erred in granting Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For illustrative purposes, because this is an appeal from a summary judgment and because this Court gives no deference to the trial court in this context, Appellant states the facts as follows:

1. Facts as set forth in the trial court by Appellant; and

2. Statement of Material Facts in Dispute Before the Trial Court.

Facts Set Forth by Appellant

The following factual statements are taken from Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, (R. 57-82), attached hereto as Exhibit A).

1. Appellant is a general contractor on a construction project in Beaver County, Utah, owned and operated by Circle Four Farms (the "Project"). (Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, p.4, (R. 60)).

2. Appellee provided concrete work on the Project at the request of Precise Concrete, a subcontractor on the Project. (Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, p.4, (R. 60)).

3. Precise failed to pay Appellee for work and supplies provided on the Project. (Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, p.4, (R. 60)).

4. Discussions and negotiations were held between Appellee and Appellant regarding the nonpayment by Precise. Due to a pending financial transaction, Circle Four and Appellant wanted to avoid the filing of a mechanic's lien upon the Project. (Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, p.4, (R. 60)).

5. In order to avoid the filing of a the mechanic's lien, the parties discussed an arrangement whereby certain funds would be escrowed by Appellant on certain conditions. (Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, p.4, (R. 60); *see also* Affidavit of Terry Weaver, at ¶¶ 5-7, (R. 93), attached hereto as Exhibit B).

6. The discussions regarding the terms of such an arrangement began between Mr. Wayne Smith, acting for Appellee, and Mr. Terry Weaver, acting for Appellant. Mr. Weaver and Mr. Smith discussed the various points to be included in any such agreement by telephone on or about November 6, 1995. The discussions between Mr. Weaver and Mr. Smith were followed by a confirmation memo sent to Mr. Smith by Mr. Weaver on November 7. (Affidavit of Weaver, at ¶¶ 7-8, (R. 92-93); Confirmation Memo (R. 72), attached hereto as Exhibit D).

7. On the following day, November 8, 1995, Mr. Smith contacted Mr. Solt, Chief Financial Officer of Appellant. Mr. Smith supplied Mr. Solt, by fax, with proposed escrow instructions, and with a proposed agreement (the "Formalization Agreement") prepared by Western's attorney, presumable to carry into effect the discussions held the day before. (Affidavit of Ronald Solt, (R. 89-91), attached as Exhibit C; Formalization Agreement (R. 73-78), attached hereto as Exhibit E).

8. In the conversation on November 8, 1995, Mr. Smith advised Mr. Solt that Appellant was required to sign the Formalization Agreement and the Escrow Agreement and deposit the funds that day, or Western Rock would file its lien. (Affidavit of Solt, at ¶ 4. (R. 62)).

9. The Formalization Agreement contained additional terms which were not included in the prior discussions of the parties, and which were not included in the memo of November 7, 1995, or terms different than those in the discussions and the Confirmation Memo. The applicable paragraphs, with the additional and different terms highlighted, all of which are substantial and material, are quoted from the Formalization Agreement as follows:

1. ***On or before 5:00 p.m. on November 8, 1995,*** Tri-County shall cause to be deposited in an interest-bearing account the sum of One Hundred Eighty-five Thousand Three Hundred Seventeen and 26/100 Dollars (\$185,317.26).

2. It is expressly understood that performance by the escrow agent of its duty to make the disbursement described above is **conditioned only and exclusively upon the expiration of the six-month period. There shall be no other condition relating to disbursement from escrow.**

4. Western Rock shall attempt to collect the Precise account indebtedness from Precise Concrete. **Western Rock's efforts to do so shall be solely and exclusively determined and governed by Western Rock's own discretion.** Accordingly, Western Rock shall not be required to pursue judicial action, nor formal proceedings of any kind; but rather may choose to merely conduct informal negotiations in its attempt to collect the indebtedness. In sum, the efforts to be made and/or methods to be used by Western Rock in this regard shall be the sole and exclusive prerogative of Western Rock.

5. Tri-County expressly acknowledges that Precise Concrete may assert that the sums owed by Western Rock on the Precise account are incorrect or inaccurate, or that the labor, services or materials, or some portion thereof, supplied by Western Rock were defective. Notwithstanding any such assertion, and whether it be proven accurate or not, **Tri-County hereby waives any claims, rights, defenses or causes of action it may have to reduce, offset or be reimbursed for the settlement funds be paid by Tri-County pursuant to this agreement.**

(R. 61-63).

10. In the discussions on November 8, 1995, Mr. Solt attempted to persuade Mr. Smith to allow additional time to check with counsel and to otherwise analyze the Formalization Agreement and the escrow instructions. No time was allowed. Mr. Smith told Mr. Solt that if the escrow instructions and Formalization Agreement were not signed that day and the funds deposited, that a mechanic's lien would be filed. (Affidavit of Solt, at ¶ 8. (R. 63)).

11. Finally, after considerable negotiations, Mr. Solt and Mr. Smith agreed that the funds would be deposited, but that it would be done merely as a showing of good faith and without commitment of the parties. In that discussion, Mr. Smith agreed that he would not file a mechanic's lien. Mr. Solt agreed that he would deposit the funds and sign the escrow instructions, but that the escrow instructions would not be effective until the parties finalized the terms of the Formalization Agreement itself. (Affidavit of Solt, at ¶ 9. (R. 63)).

12. To confirm this understanding, Mr. Solt sent a letter to Mr. Smith confirming the following:

Confirming our conversation of today, I have executed a wire transfer to Southern Utah Title Company, through Sun Capital Bank. I have also returned to you via fax the escrow instructions pending finalization of the original agreement. I will forward a copy of the proposed changes as soon as I have them worked out.

(Affidavit of Solt, at ¶ 10, (R. 63); Letter from Solt to Smith (R. 82), attached hereto as Exhibit F).

13. Thereafter, the parties continued to negotiate, by themselves and through their attorneys, in an attempt to complete the Formalization Agreement. The contract was never reached. The draft agreement attached to Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (Attached hereto as Exhibit G) represents several drafts whereby the parties attempted to finalize the terms of the agreement, which they were unable to do. (Affidavit of Solt, at ¶ 12. (R. 64).

Statement of Material Facts in Dispute Before the Trial Court

Because it is important for this Court to understand just how many material facts were in dispute before the trial court, and remain in dispute, Appellant sets forth the following disputed facts.

1. Appellee claimed in its summary judgment action that the parties entered into an agreement on or about November 7, 1995. (R. 17). Appellant countered that the parties had only

begun negotiations for an agreement and that they had not entered into an agreement on or about November 7, 1995, and that this was a dispute as to a material fact. (R. 58). In support of this claim, Appellant submitted a sworn statement from Appellant's President, Terry Weaver, that stated, in pertinent part:

8. The memo contains a reference that the attorney for Western Rock is to prepare escrow documents. It was my intention at the time that the terms discussed would not be binding upon either party until the escrow documents had been prepared by the attorney for [Appellee], reviewed by us and our attorney, and signed by the parties. This was specifically discussed by Mr. Smith and myself in our telephone conversation and we agreed that neither party would be bound until the final documents had been prepared.

See Affidavit of Terry Weaver, at ¶ 8. (R. 94). This single sworn statement was sufficient to create a dispute as to a material fact and to overcome Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment.

2. Appellee claimed in its summary judgment action that pursuant to the alleged agreement, Appellee agreed to forebear filing a mechanic's lien upon the Project and to use its best effort to collect money owed to Appellee from Precise. (R. 18). Appellant countered that there was a material issue of fact in dispute as to the negotiations and ultimate terms of the alleged agreement. (R. 58). In support of this claim, Appellant submitted sworn statements from Mr. Weaver and Appellant's Chief Financial Officer, Ronald Stolt, that stated, in pertinent part:

Terry Weaver:

8. The memo contains a reference that the attorney for Western Rock is to prepare escrow documents. It was my intention at the time that the terms discussed would not be binding upon

either party until the escrow documents had been prepared by the attorney for [Appellee], reviewed by us and our attorney, and signed by the parties. This was specifically discussed by Mr. Smith and myself in our telephone conversation and we agreed that neither party would be bound until the final documents had been prepared.

9. The following day, on November 8, 1995, I became aware that Western Rock had submitted to Tri-County for approval and signature the escrow documents which were discussed. This is consistent with the agreement reached between myself and Mr. Smith; that is, that the documents would be prepared and submitted for signature before the funds were paid.

10. I have subsequently reviewed the documents which were prepared and submitted by Western Rock and find that they are inconsistent with the terms discussed between myself and Mr. Smith in the following particulars:

A. The required payment of the funds within just a few hours. Mr. Smith and I did not discuss the exact amount of time that would be needed, but I do not believe that a few hours on the following day is a reasonable time.

B. There was no waiver or release of Western Rock by Tri-County discussed as set forth in the proposed agreement.

C. We specifically discussed that Western Rock would use its best efforts to aggressively collect from Precise. The agreement as submitted provides that Western Rock may use whatever efforts it chooses, presumably including no efforts at all, to collect from Precise.

See Affidavit of Weaver, at ¶¶ 8-10. (R. 93-94).

Ronald Solt:

4. After reviewing the documents, Mr. Wayne Smith and I had a telephone conversation. Mr. Smith was in Utah. I was in Pennsylvania. Mr. Smith advised me that unless Tri-County signed the documents immediately, as drafted, Western Rock intended to

file a mechanic's lien. I expressed objection to this, stating that Tri-County needed time to consult with its attorneys and to review the documents in detail. At the time I did not know the specifics of the terms discussed between Mr. Weaver and Mr. Smith the day before.

5. Initially, Mr. Smith remained firm in his position that the documents had to be signed and returned, and the funds paid, that day.

6. I contacted our attorney. Because he was in another meeting, I only had the chance to talk to him briefly and he only had the opportunity to review the documents briefly.

7. After the discussions with our attorney, I again contacted Mr. Smith and explained to him the objections which I had to the documents. Those objections included the following:

- A. Tri-County objected to the release clause contained in the documents.
- B. Tri-County objected to the fact that Western Rock could unilaterally decide what efforts, if any, it wanted to expend in pursuing Precise Concrete.
- C. We did not have sufficient time to review the agreement.
- D. The agreement was couched in the terms of payment to Western Rock, rather than as a reserve deposit.
- E. The agreement eliminated the mutuality of performance.

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