1996

Western Rock Products Corporation, a
Pennsylvania Corporation v. Tri-County
Confinement Systems, Inc. a Pennsylvania
corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. A binding contract exists when there is mutual assent by the parties manifesting their intent to be bound. In the present case, Tri-County's signed Confirmation Memo and the Escrow Agreement signed by all parties manifested the parties mutual assent. In addition to the signed documents, the parties mutual assent is evidenced by their conduct. Tri-County and Western Rock both performed pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Confirmation Memo and Escrow Agreement.

II. This Court and the Utah Supreme Court have upheld the summary enforcement of settlement agreements. Four cases provide strong precedent for the summary enforcement of the present settlement agreement. The cases decided by this Court (Zions, John Deere and Goodmansen) examined the correspondence and conduct of the parties to determine that the summary enforcement of the underlying agreement was proper. A case decided by the Supreme Court (Travelstead) set forth the public policy reasons and standards for summary enforcement of settlement agreements.

Additionally, the preceding cases show that Tri-County's reliance on Crismon v. Western Co. of North America is inappropriate. First, in

Crismon, the parties were not entering an agreement to resolve a dispute. In Crismon, the parties were entering a five year lease agreement. Significantly, a five year lease agreement must be in writing. Additionally, this Court, in a subsequent case, explained that the correspondence in Crismon was preliminary.

III. Summary enforcement of a settlement agreement is appropriate when a settlement bargain is shown and the excuse for nonperformance is comparatively unsubstantial. In the present case, Tri-County received the full benefit of the agreement. Western Rock refrained from filing its mechanic's lien, and in so doing lost its right to secure the debt owed to it. Additionally, Western Rock instituted formal collection proceedings against Precise. Tri-County's only excuse for nonperformance was that the Formalized Agreement was not signed. Tri-County's excuse for nonperformance is comparatively unsubstantial.

IV. Tri-County attempts to create a material issue of fact regarding the Formalized Agreement. Although both parties were negotiating terms of the Formalized Agreement when Tri-County asserted there was no agreement, the Confirmation Memo and Escrow Agreement had already established the underlying or "original agreement." Significantly, Tri-County has not argued that Western Rock failed to comply with the terms of the underlying agreement. Additionally, Western Rock has not attempted to enforce the terms of the Formalized Agreement. Therefore, the expanded terms of the Formalized Agreement are not material to the underlying agreement.

ARGUMENT

I. THE ACTIONS OF THE PARTIES MANIFEST A MUTUAL ASSENT TO BE BOUND.

A binding contract exists when there is mutual assent by the parties manifesting their intent to be bound. See Bunnell v. Bills, 13 Utah 2d 83, 86 (1962). In the present case, both Western Rock and Tri-County intended to be bound pursuant to the terms of Tri-County's signed Confirmation Memo. After an oral agreement was reached, Tri-County sent a signed writing verifying the terms of the agreement. Tri-County's Confirmation Memo documented the "Escrow Conditions," the "Escrow Release Conditions" and the "General Understanding" of the parties. See Tri-County Confirmation Memo to Western Rock (Exhibit "A"). It, therefore, contained all the material and essential terms and conditions of the parties' settlement agreement. Significantly, the day after receiving the Confirmation Memo, Western Rock prepared the Escrow Agreement. The Escrow Agreement contained the terms and conditions set forth in the Confirmation Memo. Tri-County, Western Rock and the escrow agent at Southern Utah Title agreed to and signed the Escrow Agreement. The signed Confirmation Memo and Escrow Agreement set forth in writing the terms and conditions of the contract between Tri-County and Western Rock and manifest Tri-County and Western Rocks' mutual intent to be bound.

Tri-County and Western Rock's performance pursuant to the express terms and conditions of the contract, manifests each parties' intent to be bound by the terms of the agreement. In determining whether the parties to an agreement become bound prior to the drafting and execution of a

contemplated formal writing, commentators and the courts have observed the following:

If the parties act under the preliminary agreement or receive benefits thereunder, they will be held to be bound notwithstanding a formal contract has never been executed. In other words, where parties have entered into a tentative agreement or made a written memorandum of agreement with the understanding that it will be reduced to writing or that a formal contract embracing the same stipulations will subsequently be executed, they may afterwards so act upon the agreement or memorandum as to estop themselves from urging that it was not reduced to writing or formally executed.

17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts, §38 (1991).

In the present case, both Tri-County and Western Rock performed. Pursuant to the contract, Tri-County signed an escrow agreement, placed \$185,317.26 in escrow and agreed to release from escrow to Western Rock such amount subject to the express conditions that Western Rock forbear filing a mechanic's lien on the Circle Four Project and use its best effort to collect money owed by Precise. See "Conditions" set forth in Tri-County Confirmation Memo (Exhibit "A") and Escrow Agreement (Exhibit "B"). Western Rock did in fact forbear filing a mechanic's lien on the Circle Four Project and within two weeks filed a lawsuit against Precise to collect money owed by Precise. See Complaint against Precise, dated November 20, 1995 (Exhibit "D"). Based on Tri-County and Western Rocks' mutual performance, both Western Rock and Tri-County manifested their mutual intent to be bound.

Tri-County's argument that there is no contract because a formal agreement was never signed is contradicted by its own Confirmation Memo. Tri-County's Confirmation Memo sets forth the terms and conditions of the agreement. Although the Confirmation Memo specifically lists certain conditions under "Escrow Conditions" and "Escrow Release

Conditions,” the Confirmation Memo does not list the signing of an additional document as a condition to the agreement. The Confirmation Memo merely mentions that there is a general understanding that Western Rock's legal counsel would draft the escrow instructions and forward the same to Tri-County. Significantly, Western Rock did draft and all parties did sign the Escrow Agreement. Based on the terms of its Confirmation Memo, it is evident that Tri-County did not consider a formal agreement as a condition to the contract.

The fact that Western Rock and Tri-County signed the Escrow Agreement, is further evidence that Tri-County intended an agreement exist. The Escrow Agreement sets forth in detailed terms the method for depositing funds in escrow and the procedure for disbursing such funds. See Escrow Agreement (Exhibit “B”). By signing the Escrow Agreement and depositing the money in escrow pursuant to the instructions, Tri-County was acknowledging the existence of, and performing pursuant to, the underlying settlement agreement between Tri-County and Western Rock.

Significantly, even if part of the performance of the contract was that Western Rock and Tri-County would enter a more formal agreement in the future, such a fact would not render the underlying contract any less binding. In Bunnell v. Bills, 13 Utah 2d 83 (Utah, 1962), the Utah Supreme Court stated, "The fact that part of the performance is that the parties will enter into a contract in the future does not render the original agreement any less binding." Id., at 87. Additionally, in Lawrence Construction Co. v. Holmquist, 642 P.2d 382, (Utah 1982), in affirming the existence of a settlement agreement, the Utah Supreme Court stated,

The stipulation and letter sent to [respondent] by their terms indicate they were merely to memorialize a previous oral agreement made between the parties. That the parties contemplated subsequent execution of a written instrument as evidence of their agreement did not prevent the oral agreement from binding the parties If a written agreement is intended to memorialize an oral contract, a subsequent failure to execute the written document does not nullify the oral contract.

Id. at 384 (citations omitted). The execution of a more formalized and specific agreement was not a condition to the underlying agreement. Western Rock and Tri-County both performed pursuant to the conditions of the underlying contract. The contract between Western Rock and Tri-County is enforceable despite the contemplation of a more formal agreement.

II. THE SUMMARY ENFORCEMENT OF THE UNDERLYING AGREEMENT IS PROPER.

Public policy favors the settlement of disputes. See Tracy Collins Bank & Tr. Co. v. Travelstead, 592 P.2d 605, 607 (1979) (stating, "Settlements are favored in the law, and should be encouraged because of the obvious benefits accruing not only to the parties, but also to the judicial system.") In the present case, in order to avoid the filing of a mechanic's lien and subsequent judicial intervention, Western Rock and Tri-County entered a settlement agreement. This Court and the Utah Supreme Court have upheld the summary enforcement of settlement agreements. The following cases provide strong precedent for upholding the summary enforcement of Western Rock and Tri-County's agreement.

A. Zions First National Bank v. Barbara Jensen Interiors

In Zions First National Bank v. Barbara Jensen Interiors, Inc. 781 P.2d 478 (Utah App. 1989), Zions Bank was attempting to collect on a promissory note. Zions scheduled depositions of the defendants. At the depositions, settlement negotiations commenced. Zions alleged that a settlement agreement was reached. The defendants argued that the parties, “only agreed that Zions’ attorney would prepare certain documents setting forth a proposed settlement.” Id. Significantly, the depositions were not taken. Therefore, the parties’ performance in Zions (as in the present case) was evidence that an agreement was reached.

After the negotiations, Zions’ attorney delivered the prepared settlement documents to the defendants. Despite repeated requests by Zions’ attorney, the defendants refused to sign the documents. Id. Ultimately, the defendants asserted that no firm settlement had been reached. The defendants stated in their affidavit, “at the time of [negotiations], we believed that no firm settlement was reached; rather, we understood that terms of the settlement were to be prepared by counsel for Zions and put in writing to be signed by us, if we were in agreement to the terms as set forth in writing.” Id. at 480. Despite this assertion by affidavit, the trial court by summary motion held an underlying agreement had been entered into. This Court upheld the trial court’s ruling stating that, “if the [Defendants] did not wish to settle this dispute, they should have clearly expressed such an intention during the settlement conference which was held in lieu of their depositions.” Id. In the present case, Tri-County agreed to settle the dispute, the agreement was documented in writing (to wit: Confirmation Memo and Escrow Agreement), the parties performed

pursuant to this agreement, and attempts were made to execute a more formal settlement agreement. As in Zions, this Court should affirm the summary enforcement of the settlement agreement.

B. John Deere Co. v. A & H Equipment

In John Deere Co. v. A & H Equipment, Inc., 876 P.2d 880 (Utah App. 1994), John Deere asserted that the parties mutually agreed to settle the case and that the trial court properly ordered A & H Equipment (A & H) to comply with their settlement agreement. On the other hand, A & H argued that the parties were in the midst of negotiating the terms of the settlement agreement when John Deere made and the trial court granted John Deere's motion to have the court judicially enforce the proposed settlement agreement. The trial court held a settlement agreement was reached despite the parties' attempts and failures to execute a formalized settlement agreement. Significantly, in affirming the summary enforcement of the agreement in John Deere, this Court distinguished Crismon v. Western Co. of North America, 742 P.2d 1219 (Utah App. 1987) (cited by Tri-County in its Appellate Brief)

In affirming the trial court's order to enforce the settlement agreement, this Court looked at the correspondence that had passed between the parties. First, this Court referenced the case of Crismon and explained that the issue in Crismon was whether the parties had entered into a valid lease agreement. Then, this Court distinguished Crismon explaining that in Crismon the initial correspondence between the parties was preliminary, indicating that negotiations were still ongoing. However, in reviewing the documents in John Deere, this Court looked at two letters and the unsigned settlement agreement and determined that although the

formalized settlement agreement was not signed, the parties minds had met with respect to an underlying agreement based on the previous correspondence. Significantly, the relevant correspondence in the present case is Tri-County's November 7, 1995 "Confirmation Memo" and the Escrow Agreement signed by both parties and Southern Utah Title. Unlike Crismon, the correspondence between Tri-County and Western Rock indicates the existence of an underlying agreement.

Additionally, Crismon can be distinguished from John Deere and the present case based on the underlying cause of action. In John Deere and the present case the issue was whether the parties had entered a settlement agreement regarding an already existing dispute. In Crismon, the issue was whether the parties had entered a five year lease. Significantly, a five year lease is required to be in writing pursuant to the statute of frauds. Therefore, the type of contract at issue in Crismon could not be entered into by oral agreement. Additionally, a five year rental contract is almost universally embodied in a formal lease. Therefore, the parties in Crismon would not reasonably expect to be bound until the formal lease document was signed.

C. Goodmansen v. Liberty Vending Systems

In Goodmansen v. Liberty Vending Systems, 866 P.2d 581 (Utah App. 1993), the primary issue was whether three letters exchanged between the parties constituted an enforceable settlement agreement. This Court affirmed the summary enforcement of the underlying settlement agreement. Significantly, this Court held the three letters exchanged between the parties constituted an agreement despite the fact a formal

settlement agreement was drafted but never signed. In so doing, this Court stated,

It is of no legal consequence that the parties have not signed a settlement agreement. Likewise, "[i]f a written agreement is intended to memorialize an oral contract, a subsequent failure to execute the written document does not nullify the oral contract." . . . "It is a basic and long established principal of contract law that agreements are enforceable even though there is neither a written memorialization of that agreement nor the signatures of the parties, unless specifically required by the statute of frauds." . . . "Parties have no right to welch on a settlement deal during the sometimes substantial period between when the deal is struck and when all necessary signatures can be garnered on a stipulation."

Id. at 584-85 (citations omitted). In the present case, the Confirmation Memo, Escrow Agreement and Solt's Letter referencing the "original agreement" establish the existence of an agreement.

Additionally, in affirming the summary enforcement of the agreement in Goodmansen, this Court focused on the conduct of the parties. This Court stated,

Moreover, the conduct of the parties indicates that both parties believed a settlement agreement had been reached. [Plaintiff] stated repeatedly that he would cancel the trial date once a settlement of the case had been reached. After [Defendant] signed the settlement letters [Plaintiff] canceled the trial set for March 26, 1991, an act consistent with a settlement having been reached. Thus, the conduct of the parties supports the *conclusion that the correspondence between [Plaintiff] and [Defendant], dated March 22, 1991, constitutes a binding settlement agreement.*

Id. at 595. In the present case, Western Rock and Tri-County performed the conditions set forth in the Confirmation Memo and Escrow Agreement. Western Rock and Tri-County's conduct supports the conclusion that a binding settlement agreement existed between the parties.

D. Tracy-Collins Bank and Trust Co. v Travelstead

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